IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

PIERRE HASCHEFF, AN
INDIVIDUAL,

Appellant/Cross-Appellant,

vs.

LYNDA HASCHEFF, AN
INDIVIDUAL,

Respondent/Cross-Appellant.

Case No. 86976

Electronically Filed
Jan 26 2024 02:04 PM
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

APPELLANT'S AMENDED OPENING BRIEF

FENNEMORE CRAIG, P.C.

Therese M. Shanks
Nevada Bar No. 12890
7800 Rancharrah Parkway
Reno, NV 89511
(775) 788-2257
tshanks@fennemorelaw.com

Attorney for Appellant/Cross-Respondent Pierre Hascheff

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether the District Court erred in awarding attorney fees to Respondent/Cross-Appellant Lynda Hascheff (“Lynda”) where:
 - a. Appellant/Cross Respondent Pierre Hascheff (“Pierre”) was the prevailing party, not Lynda; and
 - b. the fees sought by and awarded to Lynda were unreasonable?
2. Whether the District Court erred in interpreting the indemnification provision of the parties’ agreement to exclude certain legal fees incurred by Pierre in defense of a legal malpractice action?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is the second appeal between Pierre and Lynda concerning the scope of the indemnification provision contained in their marital settlement agreement (the “MSA”). Under the MSA, Lynda must indemnify Pierre, an attorney, for half of any fees he incurs in defense of a malpractice claim arising from his representation of a client during their marriage.

In the first appeal, this Court reversed the district court’s finding that Lynda was not required to indemnify Pierre for *any* of the fees he incurred in defense of a malpractice claim filed against him in 2018 (the “Malpractice Action”). This Court rejected Lynda’s argument that Pierre forfeited or otherwise waived his right to seek indemnity under the MSA by failing to promptly notify Lynda of the Malpractice

Action because this Court found that the MSA did not include any such notification requirements. Because the Malpractice Action was the product of related, collateral litigation between Pierre's former clients (the "Collateral Litigation"), this Court remanded this matter to the district court to determine what fees were incurred by Pierre in defense of the Malpractice Action.

Accepting Lynda's argument that the MSA was ambiguous, this Court expressly instructed the district court to resolve any ambiguity in the MSA as to what fees related to the Collateral Litigation were "in defense" of the Malpractice Action. This Court also instructed the district court to determine who was a prevailing party for purposes of the parties' contractual fee provision in the MSA.

On remand, the district court rejected Lynda's argument that most she was obligated to indemnify Pierre was \$147.50, one half of \$295.00 she claimed was the only amount incurred in defense of the Malpractice Action. Instead, it found that Lynda must pay to Pierre \$1,147.00, one half of \$2,295.00. In reaching this amount, the district court declined to find that fees incurred in defense of Pierre's trial testimony in the Collateral Action were in defense of the Malpractice Action, despite the fact that Pierre testified after the Malpractice Action was filed and on matters which are the directly related to and subject of various claims against him in the Malpractice Action.

The district court also refused to permit Pierre to brief the issue of whether he, as opposed to Lynda, was a prevailing party. Lynda repeatedly argued that she was a prevailing party because she had a technical de minimis victory on her declaratory relief motion, i.e., in that she did obtain declaratory relief. It was, not, however, the declaratory relief Lynda wanted. Lynda never disputed she was contractually obligated to indemnify Pierre for *a* malpractice claim under the MSA, but Lynda argued she was not obligated to indemnify Pierre for *this* Malpractice Action (including any corresponding adverse judgment). While Pierre's competing motion was not the one granted, Pierre successfully defeated Lynda's waiver and forfeiture argument underlying her motion.

Prior to the first appeal, the district court had found that neither Lynda nor Pierre were prevailing parties for purposes of an attorney fee award. And, in its order awarding fees, the district court found that Lynda had lost the appeal. But, despite Lynda having received a far worse result following the appeal, and despite Lynda losing every argument she raised, the district court found that Lynda was a prevailing party and awarded her fees in the \$46,675.00. This Court is now asked to determine in this appeal what changed between the district court's first order finding that Lynda was not a prevailing party despite having initially achieved her desired outcome, to the district court's second order, in which Lynda was found to

have “prevailed” despite having lost all of her arguments, losing the relief she sought, and Pierre having obtained the relief he sought.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

I. THE MSA

During their divorce, Lynda and Pierre agreed that Lynda would indemnify Pierre for half of any malpractice claim arising from legal representation he provided during the parties’ marriage. 4 Appellant’s Appendix (“AA”) 828 (“In the event Husband is sued for malpractice, Wife agrees to indemnify Husband for one half (1/2) the costs of any defense and judgment.”); *see also id.* (releasing all “interspousal obligations . . . except Wife’s obligation to defend and indemnify Husband for any malpractice claims”).

Relevant to this appeal is Paragraph 40 of the MSA, which states:

Except for the obligations contained in or expressly arising out of this Agreement, each party warrants to the other that he or she has not incurred, and shall not incur, any liability or obligation for the which the other party is, or may be, liable. Except as may be expressly provided in this Agreement, if any claim, action or proceeding, whether or not well founded, shall later be brought seeking to hold one party liable on account of any alleged debt, liability, act, or omission of the other, the warranting party shall, at his or her sole expense, defend the other against the claim, act or proceeding. The warranting party shall also indemnify the other and hold him or her harmless against any loss or liability that he or she may incur as a result of the claim, action, or proceeding, including attorney fees, costs, and expenses incurred in defending or responding to any such action. **In the event Husband is sued for malpractice, Wife agrees to indemnify Husband for one half (1/2) the costs of any defense and judgment.** Husband may purchase tail coverages of which Wife shall pay one half (1/2) of such costs.

Id. (emphasis added).

Prior to divorce, Pierre's law practice was the sole source of community income, from which the community benefitted. 4 AA 785. In Paragraph 24 of the MSA, Lynda recognized that any unknown, future obligation arising from Pierre's income benefitting the community would be a joint community obligation for which she was jointly liable. 1 AA 194. And, in Paragraph 38, Lynda and Pierre released each other from all "interspousal obligations . . . except [Lynda's] obligation to defend and indemnify [Pierre] for any malpractice claims." *Id.* at 198.

Also relevant to this appeal is Paragraph 35 of the MSA, the parties' contractual fee provision, which provides:

35.1 If either party to this Agreement brings an action or proceeding to enforce any provision of this Agreement, or to enforce any judgment or order made by a court in connection with this Agreement, the prevailing party in that action or proceeding shall be entitled to reasonable attorney fees and other reasonably necessary costs from the other party.

35.2 A party intending to bring an action or proceeding to enforce this Agreement shall not be entitled to recover attorney fees and costs under this provision unless he or she first gives the other party at 10 written notice before filing the action or proceeding. The written notice shall specify (1) whether the subsequent action or proceeding is to enforce the original terms of the Agreement; (2) the reasons why the moving party believes the subsequent action or proceeding is necessary; (3) whether there is any action that the other party may take to avoid the necessity for the subsequent action or proceeding; and (4) a period of time within which the other party may avoid the action or proceeding by taking the specified action. The first party shall not be entitled to attorney fees and costs if the other party takes the specified action within the time specified in the notice.

Id. 197.¹

¹ The district court previously found that both parties complied with MSA ¶ 35.2, and this finding was affirmed by this Court in the first appeal.

II. THE COLLATERAL LITIGATION AND MALPRACTICE ACTION

Pierre was a practicing attorney until January 2013. In 2018, litigation arose concerning the estate and assets of one of Pierre's former clients, Samuel Jaksick. Specifically, Samuel Jaksick's daughter, Wendy Jaksick ("Wendy") sued her brother Todd Jaksick ("Todd"), who, both during and after Samuel's lifetime, was the trustee of certain trusts and a manager of certain entities that were drafted and/or created by Pierre during his time in private practice. 1 AA 41-46.

Because Wendy's allegations made it apparent that Pierre may be sued for malpractice, Pierre retained independent counsel after he was named as a witness in the Collateral Litigation. Pierre was correct, as Todd filed the Malpractice Action against Pierre on December 26, 2018. *Id.* at 237-242. Specifically, Todd alleges that Pierre breached his duty to Todd by: (1) drafting an indemnification agreement under which Todd could be personally indemnified by his father's trust of which both Stan and Wendy were beneficiaries, and of which Todd was a trustee, without informing Todd of the inherent conflict of interest; and (2) negligently advising Todd in the creation, management and investment of certain assets and entities, which had resulted in the claims against Todd by Wendy. *Id.* This litigation was stayed pending the outcome of the Collateral Litigation. After Todd filed the Malpractice Action, Pierre extensively testified as a witness at trial in the Collateral Litigation in February 2019. 4 AA 895-900.

III. THE FIRST APPEAL

A. Lynda Argued She Did Not Have to Indemnify Pierre Any of the Fees He Incurred in Defense of the Malpractice Action.

In January 2020, Pierre notified Lynda of the Collateral Litigation and Malpractice Action, and requested that she indemnify him for half of his incurred fees and costs under MSA ¶ 40. 2 AA 284. Lynda conceded she was generally contractually obligated to pay Pierre, but argued that she did not have to indemnify Pierre for the Malpractice Action because of his delay in notifying her, which she claimed was a breach of various duties Pierre allegedly owed to her under the MSA. 1 AA 159-172. Lynda further refused to pay Pierre unless he agreed to provide her information protected by the attorney-client and/or common interest privilege. 1 AA 13-26.

After Pierre provided Lynda with all the information he could ethically disclose, as well as all of her requested documents, including redacted billing entries, within one day of her request, Lynda filed a motion for declaratory relief. *Id.* She specifically conceded that she was generally obligated to indemnify Pierre under MSA ¶ 40, but argued that she was not required to indemnify Pierre for *any* of the fees related to the Malpractice Action. *Id.* Lynda raised ten bases which she claimed absolved her of her contractual obligation due to Pierre's failure to provide prior notice: (1) laches, (2) collateral estoppel, (3) waiver, (4) breach of MSA ¶ 37, (5) secrecy, (6) lack of transparency, (7) selective enforcement of the MSA, (8) fraud,

(9) breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, and (10) breach of fiduciary duty. *Id.*

Pierre filed a competing motion for an order to show cause why Lynda should not be held in contempt. 1 AA 103-117. He correctly argued that the MSA did not create a duty to notify Lynda, that he did not violate any implied covenant of good faith or fair dealing or breach a fiduciary duty, and that the full disclosure without redactions in the billing entries (which were limited) requested by Lynda to “verify” his claims was all protected by the attorney-client and/or common interest privilege. *Id.*

At the hearing, Lynda again conceded that she was generally obligated to reimburse Pierre under MSA ¶ 40. 3 AA 526 (“So it’s our position that it is true that my client [Lynda] has an obligation to indemnify Pierre Hascheff for the expenses he incurred in defense of the malpractice action.”). Lynda explained she did not need clarification on the scope of MSA ¶ 40, but was instead seeking declaratory relief that Lynda was not obligated to pay Pierre *any* fees related to the Malpractice Action because she had “no evidence that any of the fees for which he seeks were in defense of that action.” *See id.* Lynda further argued that Pierre’s failure to promptly notify Lynda and to provide Lynda with her requested unredacted billing entries waived any right Pierre had to seek payment of the fees under MSA ¶ 40. *Id.* at 523-526.

The district court granted Lynda’s request for declaratory relief, and found that Lynda was not obligated to pay Pierre for any fees because (1) Pierre’s request was barred by laches, and (2) Pierre had not provided sufficient proof that the fees were incurred in defense of the Malpractice Action. 3 AA 622-636. Notably, however, the district court concluded that neither Pierre nor Lynda was a “prevailing party” entitled to fees under the MSA. *Id.* at 635.

B. Lynda Loses the First Appeal.

Pierre appealed the district court’s order in Appeal No. 82626, and Lynda cross-appealed the denial of her request for attorney fees. *See* Appeal No. 82626; *see also* 3 AA 637 – 4 AA 784. On appeal, Lynda continued to concede that she was generally obligated to indemnify Pierre under MSA ¶ 40 for the defense of *a* malpractice action, but argued that she was *not* required to pay Pierre *any* fees incurred in defense of the *this* Malpractice Action (or any corresponding adverse judgment) because (1) Pierre did not demonstrate that any of the fees incurred fell within MSA ¶ 40, (2) Pierre was dilatory in his demand and violated a duty to notify, (3) Lynda was not required to compensate Pierre for fees incurred in his capacity as a witness, and (4) Pierre’s request was barred by various equitable remedies (i.e. laches). *See* 3 AA 693 – 4 AA 784; Respondent/Cross-Appellant’s Answering Brief on Appeal and Opening Brief on Cross-Appeal (Appeal No. 82626), at pp. 2, 4, 7-8, 11, 35, 13, 15-16, 18-21, 22-24, 29-30, 34-44; *see also* Reply Brief on Cross-Appeal

(Appeal No. 82626) at pp. 1-2, 4-5, 8-10. Lynda then argued that she should have been awarded attorney fees because she was the prevailing party below, in light of the district court's finding that Lynda owed Pierre nothing. *Id.*

Noting that Lynda did not need clarification as to the scope of MSA ¶ 40 in general, this Court addressed Lynda's argument that "she should not be required to reimburse any fees and costs in the malpractice case as [Pierre] had failed to timely notify her of it," as Lynda's motion for declaratory relief was solely based upon this argument. 4 AA 788-789. This Court rejected Lynda's argument and found that "Pierre was not required to notify Lynda as to the existence of the pending malpractice action against him before seeking indemnification." *Id.* at 794. This Court further found that equitable remedies did not apply to this contractual indemnification issue. *Id.* Thus, it reversed the district court's order applying laches against Pierre's claim. *Id.* at 794-795.

This Court then interpreted MSA ¶ 40 as requiring the actual filing of a malpractice lawsuit against Pierre as a condition precedent before the indemnity obligation could arise. *Id.* at 793. It remanded this matter to the district court to determine what fees incurred after the filing of the Malpractice Action fell within the scope of MSA ¶ 40. *Id.* at 795-796. Recognizing that there may be ambiguity in MSA ¶ 40 as to what fees may be considered in "defense" of the Malpractice

Action, this Court expressly instructed the district court to issue findings on the question of ambiguity. *Id.*

Finally, this Court ordered the district court to make a determination on remand as to “which party is the prevailing party, and then consider an award of reasonable attorney fees and costs in accordance with MSA 35.1.” *Id.*

IV. PROCEEDINGS ON REMAND

A. The District Court Makes a Determination on Ambiguity, as Ordered by This Court.

On remand, Pierre noted that this Court’s ruling resulted in ambiguity as to whether fees incurred in defense of Pierre’s trial testimony in the Collateral Litigation fell within MSA ¶ 40. 4 AA 895-900. Prior to the appeal, the district court and Pierre both interpreted MSA ¶ 40 as covering all fees incurred by Pierre for both the Collateral Litigation and the Malpractice Action. 3 AA 632. This Court’s holding that no fees incurred prior to the filing of the Malpractice Action were recoverable left open the question of what, if any, fees incurred in defense of the Collateral Litigation were also in defense of the Malpractice Action after it was filed. 4 AA 795.

In addition to being ordered to consider this question by this Court, the district court found that there was “good cause” to have Pierre and Lynda brief the ambiguity in MSA ¶ 40. *Id.* at 856.

Pursuant to the district court's order approving the parties' confidentiality agreement, Pierre filed unredacted billing invoices subject to a confidentiality agreement. *Id.* at 858-894. These invoices showed a total of \$12,973.10 in fees and costs incurred by Pierre. *Id.* Of that amount, \$9,373.10 were incurred after the Malpractice Action was filed, of which Pierre's malpractice carrier paid \$2,500. *Id.*

In Pierre's brief on the ambiguity in MSA ¶ 40, Pierre argued that fees incurred in defense of his testimony in the Collateral Litigation trial fell within MSA ¶ 40. *Id.* at 895-900. This testimony occurred after Todd filed the Malpractice Action against Pierre, and concerned many of Todd's allegations. *Id.* at 896-897. Because it was a sworn statement under oath, this testimony would be admissible against Pierre in the Malpractice Action. *Id.*

As an alternative argument, Pierre reduced his sought fees to those entries that specifically referenced the Malpractice Action. *Id.* These totaled \$3,895.00. *Id.* Relevant to this appeal, were two specific time entries for February 21, 2019 and February 22, 2019. *Id.* at 873-874. The February 21, 2019 entry was for \$700.00 and stated "Plan and prepare Pierre Hascheff trial testimony in lawsuit between beneficiaries; review deposition transcript; review complaint; review correspondence." *Id.* at 873. The February 22, 2019 entry was for \$775.00 and stated "Review/analyze expert disclosures in underlying trust case in preparation for client's trial testimony." *Id.* at 874.

Lynda, of course, disagreed. *Id.* at 901-905. She once again argued that she was not required to pay *any* of the fees because, according to Lynda, all of the incurred fees related to the Collateral Litigation and not the Malpractice Action. *Id.* Lynda argued that Pierre could only recover \$295.00, which means that the most Lynda would have to pay is \$147.50. *Id.* at 903-904. Lynda's rationale was that the Malpractice Action was stayed and, therefore, the only fees Lynda had to pay were those related to the physical staying of that lawsuit. *See id.*

Looking at the fees incurred by Pierre after the date the Malpractice Action was filed, the district court provided an itemized list of the fees it found fell within MSA ¶ 40. *Id.* at 930-939. Excluded from this list were the February 21 and 22 entries. *Id.* at 932-933. Had the district court included the two February entries, the total amount ultimately awarded would have been more than the offer of judgment Pierre had previously served on Lynda. 5 AA 1036.

The district court rejected Lynda's argument that this amount only totaled \$295, and instead found that \$2,295.00 of Pierre's fees fell within MSA ¶ 40.² 4 AA 933. Thus, Lynda was ordered to reimburse Pierre \$1,147.50. *Id.* at 937.

B. The Prevailing Party Confusion.

On remand, Lynda repeatedly argued that she was a prevailing party because she sought declaratory relief, and she got declaratory relief. *Id.* at 805-808; 920-

²This number is \$1,475.00 less than what Pierre requested.

924. But, *the declaratory relief Lynda obtained was not the declaratory relief she sought*. See *id.* at 933. To the contrary, it was the exact opposite. Lynda, who had consistently conceded she had a general obligation to indemnify Pierre, sought a declaratory judgment that she was *not* obligated to pay Pierre for the Malpractice Action. 1 AA 133-134. She lost that argument. 4 AA 785-796.

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