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

as a result of the breach.
1AA0072 (emphases added). Generally, a further assurances clause requires a
contracting party to take all such actions that are necessary to effectuate the core
commitments in a contract. See In re Winer Fam. Tr., No. 05-3394, 2006 WL
3779717, at *3 n.6 (3d Cir. Dec. 22, 2006) (characterizing purpose of further
assurances clause as “ensur[ing] that the parties would not obstruct each other’s
efforts to comply with their specific obligations.”). The breach of a further
assurances clause constitutes a breach of contract. See Blumberg Assocs.
Worldwide, Inc. v. Brown & Brown of Conn., 84 A.3d 840, 855 (Conn. 2014).

Pierre’s opening brief accuses the district court of writing a notice provision

into the MSA that does not otherwise exist. AOB 20. Yet MSA §37 clearly

obligated Pierre to “do any and all acts and things reasonably necessary or proper
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to carry out [his] obligations” and for Lynda to carry out her obligations under the
MSA. 1AA0072. The district court found that depriving Lynda of critical
information that could affect her potential liability under MSA §40 for over a year,
failing to be transparent, and engaging in delay tactics was improper and
prejudicial. 4AA0721-0723.

Although the district court concluded that these facts gave rise to laches, the
same facts demonstrate Pierre’s breach of MSA §37 because the information
withheld by Pierre was “reasonably necessary” for Lynda to evaluate her risk and
liability. Having failed to comply with MSA §37, Pierre could not enforce MSA
§40 against Lynda. See Laguerre v. Nevada Sys. of Higher Educ., 837 F. Supp. 2d
1176, 1180 (D. Nev. 2011) (noting that, under Nevada law, a plaintiff’s own
performance under a contract is an essential element of a breach of contract claim).

In light of MSA §37, the cases Pierre cites for the supposed proposition that
an indemnitee has no obligation to notify an indemnitor of a settlement are of no
consequence. AOB 20-24. The only Nevada decision he cites is an unpublished
disposition from 2013, which NRAP 36(c)(3) prohibits him from citing. AOB 23.
That non-authoritative case, and the other cases to which Pierre points, do not have
the facts that exist here: an indemnitee who seeks indemnification for his own
negligence under a contract that strictly confines the indemnification obligation to

limited circumstances and requires the indemnitee to “do any and all acts and
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things reasonably necessary or proper” for the parties to carry out their contractual
obligations. 1AA0072. Unlike in the cases cited by Pierre, this case does not
involve a settling indemnitee; it involves an indemnitee who, for a year and half,
intentionally kept secret from the indemnitor the facts and circumstances of a
malpractice claim, thereby depriving her of the ability to mitigate her potential
liability. This violated not only the language but also the spirit of MSA §37.

C. The District Court Correctly Applied Laches To Pierre’s Prejudicial And
Dilatory Conduct

Although this case can be decided in Lynda’s favor based purely on the
contract language, the facts as viewed and weighed by the district court also
soundly supported the conclusion that laches warranted declaratory relief in
Lynda’s favor.

1. The District Court Could Recognize A Laches Defense In A
Declaratory Relief Action

Pierre erroneously argues that the district court was barred from invoking
laches in a contract action. AOB 29. This argument disregards that the matter
involved declaratory relief to interpret the respective rights and obligations in the
MSA (sought by Lynda) and for contempt proceedings (sought by Pierre). “[T]he
declaratory judgment and injunctive remedies are equitable in nature and other
equitable defenses may be interposed.” Abbott Labs. v. Gardner, 387 U.S. 136, 155

(1967), abrogated on other grounds by Califano v. Sanders, 430 U.S. 99, 105
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(1977). “Declaratory and injunctive relief are equitable remedies and may thus be
barred by laches.” Sierra Club v. U.S. Dep't of Transp., 245 F. Supp. 2d 1109,
1114 (D. Nev. 2003); see also Lincoln Benefit Life Co. v. Edwards, 243 F.3d 457,
462 (8th Cir. 2001) (““A court of equity has inherent power to restore justice
between contracting parties”); Andersen, Meyer & Co. v. Fur & Wool Trading Co.,
14 F.2d 586, 589 (9th Cir. 1926) (““As the subject-matter here involved belongs to
the class of cases of which a court of equity has jurisdiction, the objection so made
to the jurisdiction in equity because of an adequate remedy of law will be
disregarded.”); Zuckerman v. Metro. Museum of Art, 928 F.3d 186, 197 (2d Cir.
2019) (recognizing a laches defense to a case at law). Laches can apply to bar a
request to hold a party in contempt. See McGuffin v. Springfield Hous. Auth., 662
F. Supp. 1546, 1550 (C.D. Ill. 1987).

As these authorities demonstrate, the fact that the district court was tasked
with interpreting a contract did not prevent it from invoking laches. See id.; Abbott
Labs., 387 U.S. at 155. While Reyburn has language that “[w]hen the duty to
indemnify arises from contractual language it generally is not subject to equitable
considerations,” the use of the word “generally” indicates that this is not a hard and
fast rule. See 127 Nev. at 339, 255 P.3d at 274. Since the exception applies here to

both declaratory relief and contempt proceedings, the district court properly
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invoked laches to determine that Pierre’s egregious conduct warranted declaratory
relief in Lynda’s favor. See Abbott Labs., 387 U.S. at 155.

2. The Facts Found By The District Court Satisfy The Requirements
For Laches

Having reviewed the evidence and observed Pierre’s testimony, the district
court was best situated to find that the facts presented a case for laches.

Laches is an equitable doctrine which may be invoked when delay by

one party works to the disadvantage of the other, causing a change of

circumstances which would make the grant of relief to the delaying

party inequitable. To determine whether a challenge is barred by the

doctrine of laches, this court considers (1) whether the party

inexcusably delayed bringing the challenge, (2) whether the party’s

inexcusable delay constitutes acquiescence to the condition the party

is challenging, and (3) whether the inexcusable delay was prejudicial

to others.
Miller v. Burk, 124 Nev. 579, 598, 188 P.3d 1112, 1125 (2008) (quoting Building
& Constr. Trades v. Public Works, 108 Nev. 605, 610-11, 836 P.2d 633, 636-37
(1992)). “Applicability of the laches doctrine depends upon the particular facts of
each case.” Carson City v. Price, 113 Nev. 409, 412, 934 P.2d 1042, 1043 (1997),
citing Home Savings v. Bigelow, 105 Nev. 494, 496, 779 P.2d 85, 86 (1989). As
the trier of fact, “the district court is in the best position to adjudge the credibility
of the witnesses and the evidence” and should not be second-guessed by the

reviewing court. State v. Rincon, 122 Nev. 1170, 1177, 147 P.3d 233, 238 (2006),

quoting State v. McKellips, 118 Nev. 465, 469, 49 P.3d 655, 658 (2002).
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As the district court correctly concluded, the facts here justified ruling
against Pierre on the basis of laches. 4AA0719-0721. Pierre waited a year and a
half before he first informed Lynda of a potential malpractice claim. 1AA0101;
4AA0698(110:14-17). He then withheld pertinent information from her, which
prompted months of requests that he denied. 1AA0164-0165, 0175. Pierre’s
position was that his former wife had no choice but to trust him that the indemnity
provision applied and send him a check simply because he demanded one.
1AA0164. Having reviewed the evidence and heard Pierre’s testimony, the district

99 ¢¢

court found his conduct “troubling,” “not transparent,” and incomplete and that
Lynda was thereby prejudiced. 4AA0721-0723.

In his opening brief, Pierre erroneously contends that testimony from Lynda
was needed for the district court to find she was prejudiced. AOB 40. The
documentary evidence, however, speaks for itself. By keeping Lynda in the dark,
notwithstanding Pierre’s contention that the defense of the malpractice action was
a joint obligation, Pierre deprived her of the opportunity to exercise what should
have been her equal and equivalent right to participate in management of the
litigation. 1AA0124.

Because Pierre’s attorney said he represented Pierre’s interests alone, Lynda

could have retained her own counsel to observe the Jaksick Trust Action and

evaluate whether it called into question the legal services provided by Pierre.
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1AA0124, 00130-0131. Had she been given the opportunity to retain counsel, her
lawyer could have observed Pierre’s testimony in the Jaksick Trust Action for
content and credibility, evaluated how Pierre’s potential conflicts of interest related
to the Jaksick family might constitute professional negligence, and participated in
the strategy decisions that Pierre made unilaterally. 1AA0125, 00130-0131. Not
being a lawyer, Lynda’s interests in obtaining legal advice were greater than
Pierre’s. 1AA0132.

Pierre also contends the district court purportedly “misinterpreted [his]
accounting of his fees and costs.” AOB 39. Yet to back that up, he makes multiple
assertions that lack any citation to the record whatsoever. AOB 40. Where he does
cite the record for the proposition that he provided “a complete account
substantiating his indemnity claim,” his references actually undermine, rather than
support, him. AOB 40. First, he cites portion of a bill from August 27, 2019 that
purports to show some payments being made by “Allied World” and some by
“PAH Limited LLC.” AOB 40, citing 1AA0144. But Pierre’s demand included
fees that post-dated that time. 3AAS523-0524. So, the portion of that bill was
neither “complete” nor an “account[ing].” See id.

Second, Pierre pointed to a chart that his lawyer included in the Opposition
to Lynda’s DR Motion. AOB 40, citing 1APP0154. This is not evidence. See

Phillips, 105 Nev. at 634, 782 P.2d at 383. Even if it were, the chart is plainly
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wrong because, in it, Pierre claims fees incurred ‘“after [the] malpractice suit”
starting in January 2019 when Todd Jaksick’s Malpractice Action was not filed
until December 26, 2019, nearly a year later. Compare id. to 1AA0110. Given that
this is the only thing to which Pierre could point for his supposed “accounting,” the
district court correctly found that it was inadequate. 4AA(0722.

In sum, Pierre’s delay and failure to provide basic and complete information
precluded Lynda from mitigating her potential risk posed by Pierre’s professional
negligence. 1AA0124-0125. It materially impaired her from protecting herself
against a potential judgment for which she might be 50% responsible. 1AA0125. It
also precluded her from determining whether Pierre had procured MSA §40
through fraud because he knew of conflicts of interest among the Jaksick family
members that he represented. IAA0131. The issue of prejudice is an issue of fact,
and the district court was best positioned to make these factual findings and
conclude that they give rise to laches. See Las Vegas Metro. Police Dep't v.
Coregis Ins. Co., 127 Nev. 548, 558, 256 P.3d 958, 965 (2011).

In an analogous case involving delay and obfuscation in notifying an
indemnitor that his indemnity obligation might be triggered, thereby prejudicing
the indemnitor’s position, the Supreme Court invoked laches to conclude that “[1]t
would ... be inequitable to permit the [indemnitee] to proceed with its indemnity

claim.” Erickson v. One Thirty-Three, Inc., & Assocs., 104 Nev. 755, 758, 766
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P.2d 898, 900 (1988). The same is true here. Under the facts and circumstances,
applying laches to enter declaratory relief in favor of Lynda was appropriate.

D. Pierre Breached The Covenant Of Good Faith And Fair Dealing
Implied In The MSA And His Fiduciary Duty That Arises From It

Pierre’s decision to withhold information from Lynda likewise breached the
covenant of good faith and fair dealing implied in the MSA and his fiduciary
obligation to act in good faith. A party to the contract who “deliberately
contravenes the intention and spirit” of a contract breaches the implied covenant of
good faith and fair dealing. Hilton Hotels Corp. v. Butch Lewis Prods., Inc., 107
Nev. 226, 232, 808 P.2d 919, 922-23 (1991). “A ‘confidential or fiduciary
relationship’ exists when one reposes a special confidence in another so that the
latter, in equity and good conscience, is bound to act in good faith and with due
regard to the interests of the one reposing the confidence.” Long v. Towne, 98 Nev.
11, 13, 639 P.2d 528, 530 (1982). “A fiduciary relationship exists when one has the
right to expect trust and confidence in the integrity and fidelity of another.” Powers
v. United Servs. Auto. Ass'n, 114 Nev. 690, 700, 962 P.2d 596, 602 (1998), opinion
modified on denial of reh'g, 115 Nev. 38, 979 P.2d 1286 (1999) (upholding jury
instruction with this language). Even in the absence of a fiduciary relationship,
fiduciary-like duties may arise “when one party gains the confidence of the other
and purports to act or advise with the other’s interests in mind.” Perry v. Jordan,

111 Nev. 943, 947, 900 P.2d 335, 337-38 (1995).
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Pierre had such duties to Lynda because of his advantaged and entrusted
position regarding any malpractice claims. As between Pierre and Lynda, he had
sole control over the events that might give rise to a malpractice action and
whether he engaged in professional negligence. In other words, whether or not
Lynda’s indemnity obligation gets triggered turns on Pierre’s adherence to his
professional duties, over which Lynda had no control.

Moreover, Pierre held all the information related to: (1) how he practiced
law; (2) potential liability for malpractice claims arising from his law practice,
including those arising from any conflicts of interest;* (3) the Jaksick Trust Action
proceedings; (4) the Malpractice Action filed by Todd Jaksick; (5) payments he
allegedly made; and (6) coverage by the insurance carrier. Lynda was in the dark.
Pierre alone would know if a malpractice action were threatened or filed. Given
their unequal positions, Pierre had a duty to act in good faith to provide
information to Lynda so she could evaluate her potential liability and take steps, if
possible, to mitigate it. See Perry, 111 Nev. at 947, 900 P.2d at 337-38. He failed

to do so.

* When reviewing the Malpractice Action complaint, Lynda learned of potential
conflicts of interest among individuals in the Jaksick family. 1AA0110-0114.
Lynda requested discovery below into whether Pierre had obtained conflict
waivers so she could assess whether he failed to disclose critical information to her
at the time §40 was included in their MSA. 1AA0092. Should the Court not simply
affirm declaratory judgment in Lynda’s favor, remand to the district court so that
Lynda can investigate whether Pierre procured MSA §40 through fraud is
warranted.

37

AA 1288



E. Pierre Is Not Entitled To His Fees In This Action Because He Was
Not The Prevailing Party And Did Not Comply With MSA §35.2

As the losing party, Pierre was not entitled to fees under Section 35 of the
MSA, which provides:

If either party to this Agreement brings an action or proceeding to

enforce any provision of this Agreement, or to enforce any judgment

or order made by a court in connection with this Agreement, the

prevailing party in that action or proceeding shall be entitled to

reasonable attorney fees and other reasonably necessary costs from

the other party.
1AAO0071. Pierre lost below. 4AA0711-0725. As a result, the district court
correctly denied his request for fees. See id. Pierre’s argument that his fees and
costs were part of Lynda’s indemnity obligation is circular and contrary to the
plain language of MSA §§35.2 and 40. 1AA0071-0072. If the fees and costs are
not covered under a strict construction of the contract language, he cannot recover
them.

The relief sought by Pierre was for the district court to hold Lynda in
contempt of court. 1AA0176-0205. In seeking a contempt order, the moving party
must make a prima facie showing that the non-moving had the ability to comply
with the court order and that the violation of the order was willful. Rodriguez v.
Dist. Ct., 120 Nev. 798, 809, 102 P.3d 41, 49 (2004). For contempt to be found,

the court order “must be clear and unambiguous, and must spell out the details of

compliance in clear, specific, and unambiguous terms so that the person will
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readily know exactly what duties or obligations are imposed on him.”
Cunningham v. Dist. Ct., 102 Nev. 551, 559-60, 729 P.2d 1328, 1333-34 (1986).
In his opening brief, Pierre does not even analyze the requirements for a contempt
order or point to any error in the district court’s conclusion that no contempt of
court occurred, thereby waiving this argument. See Bongiovi v. Sullivan, 122 Nev.
556, 569 n.5, 138 P.3d 433, 443 n.5 (2006) (declining to consider issues not raised
in appellant’s opening brief). In light of this waiver, Pierre cannot be deemed the
prevailing party.

Even had he prevailed, Pierre still could not recover his fees for this
litigation because he failed to comply with the pre-filing conditions set forth in
MSA §35.2.

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